### IN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT CASE NO: SC01-464

## BLUE CROSS AND BLUE SHIELD OF FLORIDA, INC.,

Defendant/Petitioner,

v.

ANGELA STECK,

 ${\bf Plaintiff/Respondent.}$ 

### PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

### ON APPEAL FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL CASE NO. 2D00-932

CHARLES C. LANE
Florida Bar No. 284467
Lau, Lane, Pieper, Conley
& McCreadie, P.A.
Post Office Box 838
Tampa, FL 33601-0838
Telephone: 813/229-2121
Facsimile: 813/228-7710

ALAN C. SUNDBERG Florida Bar No. 079381 Smith, Ballard & Logan, P.A. Lively House 403 East Park Avenue Tallahassee, FL 32301 Telephone: 850/577-0444

**Facsimile:** 850/577-0022

### **PRELIMINARY STATEMENT**

For the purposes of this Initial Brief, Plaintiff/Appellee Angela Steck will be referred to as Angela Steck or Ms. Steck. Defendant/Appellant Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Florida, Inc., will be referred to as "BCBSF."

References to the Appendix shall be made by citing "App." and the number of the document in the Appendix, as well as by stating the name of the pleading referred to. In regard to citations to deposition transcripts filed with the trial court, portions of which are included in the Appendix, reference to the pertinent page and line of the deposition is also included.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

This case arises out of an automobile/pedestrian accident that occurred on June 29, 1997 at about 11:00 p.m. at the intersection of North Dale Mabry Highway and Humphrey Avenue in Tampa. The accident occurred when Angela Steck walked in front of an automobile traveling southbound on North Dale Mabry Highway. As a result of her injuries, Ms. Steck required extensive hospitalization and incurred substantial hospital and medical expenses (App. 6 - Amended Complaint). At the time of her accident, Ms. Steck was insured pursuant to a "Conversion Option III" health insurance contract issued by BCBSF. (App. 17 - Affidavit of Sandra Jackson)

On February 11, 1998, Ms. Steck filed this action for breach of contract and declaratory judgment, seeking a determination that the medical expenses she incurred for treatment of the injuries she suffered in her June 29, 1997, accident were covered under BCBSF's Conversion Option III health insurance contract. (App. 6 - Amended Complaint) BCBSF answered, denying any obligation to pay contract benefits, because under her policy, benefits were excluded for "a condition resulting from you being drunk or under the influence of any narcotic unless taken on the advice of a physician." (App. 5 - Answer to Amended Complaint)

Shortly after Ms. Steck's admission to St. Joseph's Hospital, BCBSF discovered that her blood alcohol serum level at the time of the accident was .312. which is equal to a .26 whole blood equivalency, more than 3 times the legal limit to be deemed under the influence of alcohol had Ms. Steck been driving a car at the time of her accident. (App. 16 - Affidavit of Mark Montgomery) BCBSF subsequently learned that her blood alcohol level was actually substantially higher, due to the fact that Ms. Steck received 4.7 liters of intravenous fluids in the roughly 36 minute period between her accident and her blood draw. Consequently, her blood alcohol level at the time of her accident was determined to be between .40 and .50, rather than .26. (App. 16 - Affidavit of Mark Montgomery) Ms. Steck's blood alcohol level was analyzed by Dr. Mark Montgomery, a doctorate in the field of biochemical toxicology. Dr. Montgomery's affidavit reflects that Ms. Steck's blood alcohol level was the highest he has ever encountered in a living human being. (App. 16 - Affidavit of Mark Montgomery) In Dr. Montgomery's opinion, Ms. Steck was severely impaired at the time of her accident, with all aspects of her central nervous system functioning depressed, including impairment of normal thinking, balance, decision making, judgment, coordination, vision, and the ability to carry out motor functions such as walking and talking. In common parlance, Ms. Steck was drunk at the time of her pedestrian/auto accident. (App. 16 - Affidavit of Mark Montgomery)

BCBSF refused to pay Ms. Steck's hospital and other health care bills incurred due to the injuries she received in her accident. Payment was refused based upon a contract exclusion that stated:

This contract does not provide benefits for: . . . A condition resulting from you being drunk or under the influence of any narcotic unless taken on the advice of a physician; . . .

The contract defined "condition" as: "Any covered disease, illness, ailment, injury or bodily malfunction of an insured." (App. 17 - Affidavit of Sandra Jackson)

Ms. Steck asserted that this exclusionary language means only that there is no coverage for conditions caused by the <u>direct</u> effect of intoxicating liquors or narcotics on the system of an insured (presumably, for example, alcohol toxicity or drug overdose), but that it does not exclude coverage for injuries resulting from acts of an insured by reason of their intoxication. BCBSF disagreed and asserted that the exclusion precludes coverage if Ms. Steck's drunkenness was a cause—either direct or indirect—of her pedestrian/automobile accident and her resulting injuries.

Ms. Steck was deposed after suit was filed and testified that she had no recollection of any events that occurred after nine in the morning on the day of her accident, when she had coffee with her mother at breakfast. In fact, Ms. Steck testified that her next recollection after 9:00 a.m. on June 29, 1997, was waking up in St. Joseph's Hospital in Tampa in the middle of August 1997, about one and one-half months after the accident. (App. 19 - Depo. of Angela Steck pg. 11, ln. 1 - pg. 12, ln. 18, and pg. 34, ln. 6-12) Ms. Steck admitted that her mind was a "blank" concerning how her accident occurred. (App. 19 - Depo. of Angela Steck, pg. 11, ln. 11-16)

At the time of her accident, Ms. Steck had been diagnosed with Moebius Syndrome, a congenital condition that prevented her from moving her eyes laterally. (App. 14 - Depo. of Dr. Moira Burke - pg. 4, ln. 19-25) Ms. Steck's uncorrected vision at the time of her accident was 20/400, but with glasses was 20/30 to 20/40. (App. 14 - Depo. of Dr. Burke - pg. 6, ln. 15-16 and pg. 19, ln. 13-15) She did not have double vision or lazy eye and also had full peripheral vision, but did have to turn her head to see from side to side. (App. 14 - Depo. of Dr. Burke - pg. 5, ln. 16 - pg. 6, ln. 8 and pg. 7, ln. 5-19) Ms. Steck's opthamologist testified that Ms. Steck's vision would qualify her for a Florida driver's license, but in order to cross a street, Ms. Steck had to turn her head to observe oncoming traffic. (App. 14 - Depo. of Dr. Burke - pg. 9, ln. 15 - pg. 10, ln. 7). Significantly, Ms. Steck testified that she crossed streets in precisely the manner described by her opthamologist and she admitted that her Moebius Syndrome did not cause her difficulty in crossing streets. (App. 19 - Depo. of A. Steck - pg. 44, ln. 1-15)

Although Barbara Steck filed an affidavit claiming her daughter, Angela, was not wearing her glasses at the time of the pedestrian/auto accident, Mrs. Barbara Steck was not present at the time and could not have personal knowledge concerning whether her daughter was wearing her glasses at the time of her accident. (App. 19 - Depo of A. Steck - pg. 11, ln. 17-21) Angela Steck also filed an affidavit in opposition to BCBSF's motion for summary judgment asserting that she was not wearing her glasses at the time of the accident, but that affidavit testimony was contrary to Ms. Steck's earlier deposition testimony that her mind was a "blank" as to how the accident occurred and that she had no recollection of the day of the accident between 9:00 a.m. and the time of the accident, about 11:00 p.m. (App. 19 - Depo of A. Steck - pg.. 11, ln. 11-16)

The driver of the vehicle that struck Ms. Steck, Willard Conrad, was deposed and his deposition was filed. Mr. Conrad did not admit to any negligent act that contributed to cause the accident.

Ms. Steck's accident was also witnessed by several other individuals present at the accident scene. One of those impartial eye witnesses, Joseph VanBuren, a cab driver for United Cab Company, was stopped in his taxicab facing east at the traffic light on Humphrey Avenue at the Dale Mabry intersection where the accident occurred. (App. 18 - Depo. of VanBuren - pg. 6, ln. 21 - pg. 7, ln.2) Mr. VanBuren was waiting for the light to turn green and had no vehicle in front of him. (App. 18 -Depo. of VanBuren - pg. 7, ln. 23 pg. 8, ln. 2) The intersection was well lit, the weather was clear, and his view was unobstructed. (App. 18 - Depo. of VanBuren pg. 9, ln. 1-13). Mr. VanBuren observed Ms. Steck for about five minutes, from a distance of approximately 50 to 60 feet. (App. 18 - Depo. of VanBuren - pg. 11, ln. 12 -pg. 12, ln. 11) Mr. VanBuren saw Ms. Steck standing in the Dale Mabry Highway median waiving her hands, and apparently talking to herself. (App. 18 - Depo. of VanBuren - pg. 9, ln. 23-25 and pg. 11, ln. 8-11) Ms. Steck looked to her right at oncoming southbound traffic once or twice during the time Mr. VanBuren watched her. (App. 18 - Depo. of VanBuren - pg. 13, ln. 5 - pg. 14, ln. 7) Although there were breaks in traffic sufficient to allow Ms. Steck to cross the southbound lanes of Dale Mabry Highway, she did not take advantage of those opportunities. (App. <u>18</u> - Depo. of VanBuren - pg. 14, ln. 14-21). Instead, Ms. Steck finally looked to her right again, should have seen an oncoming vehicle, but simply walked in front of a southbound car and was struck by the car. (App. 18 -Depo. of VanBuren - pg. 15, ln. 22 - pg. 16, In. 22) In Mr. VanBuren's opinion, there was nothing the driver of the auto that struck Ms. Steck could have done to avoid the accident. (App. 18 - Depo. of VanBuren - pg. 16, ln. 23 - pg. 17, ln. 6)

After discovery, on November 23, 1998, BCBSF filed a motion for final summary judgment, on the grounds that: (1) the health insurance contract's "drunkenness exclusion" excluded coverage for expenses incurred as a result of Ms. Steck's drunkenness; (2) Ms. Steck was drunk at the time of her accident, due to a measured blood alcohol level of .26 and an actual blood alcohol level of .40 to .50; and (3) the undisputed testimony concerning the manner in which the accident occurred demonstrated that the accident was caused by Ms. Steck's drunkenness. (App. 20 - Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Florida, Inc.'s motion for final summary judgment) On December 1, 1998, Ms. Steck filed her own Motion for Final Summary Judgment, asserting that she was entitled to summary judgment in her favor because the "drunkenness exclusion" did not apply to conditions resulting from acts by Ms. Steck that occurred because she was intoxicated. (App. 15 - Plaintiff's Motion for Final Summary Judgment)

On February 15, 1999, Judge Pendino heard argument on the cross motions for summary judgment. On March 2, 1999, Judge Pendino entered orders granting BCBSF's motion for final summary judgment and denying Ms. Steck's motion for final summary judgment. (App. 11 - Order Granting Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Florida, Inc.'s Motion for Summary Judgment) On March 11, 1999, Ms. Steck filed a motion for rehearing. (App. 9 - Plaintiff's Motion for Rehearing) After further pleading regarding the pertinent legal issues, on July 19, 1999, Judge Pendino heard and granted Ms. Steck's motion for rehearing, inviting the parties to reassert and reargue their competing summary judgment motions.

In the meantime, Ms. Steck filed an Amended Complaint, seeking recovery for medical bills incurred after the June 27, 1997, accident, including medical bills incurred in connection with a second automobile/wheelchair accident on September 20, 1998. (App. 6 - Amended Complaint) On August 19, 1999, BCBSF filed an Amended Answer, again raising the drunkenness exclusion and other defenses, as it appeared from hospital records that Ms. Steck was also intoxicated at the time of the 1998 collision. (App. 5 - Answer to Amended Complaint)

On December 13, 1999, the parties again argued their summary judgment motions, and on January 24, 2000, Judge Pendino entered a partial summary judgment on liability in favor of Plaintiff and an order denying Defendant's motion for summary judgment, (App. 1 and 2) citing Mason v. Life & Casualty Ins., Co., of Tenn., 41 So.2d 153 (Fla. 1949) ("Mason I") and Mason v. Life & Casualty Ins., Co., of Tenn., 41 So.2d 155 (Fla. 1949) ("Mason II").

BCBSF appealed and the Second District affirmed, finding that <u>Mason II</u> controlled and holding that the policy's drunkenness exclusion only applied to exclude expenses related to a "direct" injury to biological systems of a person, such as acute

alcohol poisoning or liver damage, not to "indirect" injuries, such as accidental injuries caused by the behavior of an insured while intoxicated. <u>Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Florida, Inc. v. Steck</u>, 778 So.2d 374 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001).

BCBSF timely filed a petition for review and this Court accepted jurisdiction on August 28, 2001.

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

BCBSF's drunkenness exclusion is authorized by, and tracks the language of, Section 627.629, Florida Statutes. The precursor of Section 627.629, Florida Statutes, was promulgated by the Florida Legislature in 1953. Since 1953, there have been eight reported decisions in Florida construing drunkenness exclusions in life or health insurance policies. In all of the cases (except this one), including Harris v. Carolina Life Insurance Co., 233 So. 2d 833 (Fla. 1970), Florida's appellate courts and the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals have either explicitly or implicitly held that Florida's drunkenness exclusion precludes recovery of policy benefits if the insured's drunkenness was an indirect cause of the insured's death or injury. BCBSF submits that the undisputed facts in this case demonstrate that Ms. Steck's drunkenness was the cause (or, at least, a cause) of her pedestrian/auto accident and that, consequently, the conditions and injuries resulting from that accident are not covered under her health insurance policy.

The reliance of the Court below on <u>Mason I</u> and <u>Mason II</u> is misplaced because both of these decisions predate <u>Harris</u> and the 1953 statute authorizing the inclusion of a drunkenness exclusion in Florida heath insurance policies. <u>Mason I</u> and <u>Mason II</u> equate a drunkenness exclusion which excludes coverage for a claim "resulting directly from" the use of intoxicating liquor with an exclusion which applies if a claim is "resulting from" the use of intoxicating liquor. BCBSF submits that <u>Mason II</u> was reversed by implication by <u>Harris</u> or, alternatively, was wrongly decided, and that in any event, its rationale has been superceded by statute.

Mason II should be explicitly reversed for at least three reasons. First, Mason II should be reversed because a policy exclusion for injuries which "result directly from" drunkenness has an obviously different meaning than an exclusion for injuries which "result from" drunkenness. In addition, Mason II should be reversed because extension of the Mason II rationale to the statutorily permitted illegal occupation health insurance policy exclusion would render that statutory provision meaningless. Finally, Mason II should be reversed because reversal will promote a clear legislative policy decision to impose on insureds rather than insurers and their other policy holders, the costs of certain personally destructive behavior by an insured.

### **ARGUMENT**

# I. FLORIDA LAW NOW APPLIES THE DRUNKENNESS EXCLUSION IN HEALTH INSURANCE POLICIES IF AN INSURED'S DRUNKENNESS IS ONE OF THE CAUSES OF AN INSURED'S ILLNESS OR INJURY.

### A. Mason I and Mason II, the Pre-1953 Law.

Florida's first reported decisions dealing with drunkenness exclusions in life or health insurance policies are Mason v. Life & Casualty Inc. Co. of Tennessee, 41 So. 2d 153 (Fla. 1949) ("Mason I"), and Mason v. Life & Casualty Ins. Co. of Tennessee, 41 So. 2d 155 (Fla. 1949) ("Mason II"). The underlying facts of the two cases are the same. The insured under two life insurance policies issued by Life & Casualty Insurance Company of Tennessee was intoxicated and riding in a taxicab toward Pensacola, Florida. The insured ordered the taxidriver to stop and let her out of the cab on a dark, deserted stretch of road outside Pensacola. While walking along the road while intoxicated, the insured was hit by a truck and died as a result. The truck driver was without fault for the pedestrian/truck accident.

The insurance policies in <u>Mason I</u> and <u>Mason II</u> paid double benefits if death resulted from accidental causes. The policy in <u>Mason I</u> also stated: "This accidental death benefit does not cover . . . death <u>resulting directly from</u> the use of intoxicating liquors or narcotics . . .." <u>Id.</u> at 154 (emphasis supplied). The <u>Mason I</u> court held the exclusion inapplicable to the facts in that case, stating:

This provision of the policy is plain, simple and unambiguous and plainly refers to the effect of the use of intoxicating liquors upon the system of an assured as distinguished from acts committed by him by reason of his being under the influence of, or his mind being affected by, intoxicants.

To bring a cause of death within such an exception clause of a policy, the burden is on the insurer to show that the use of intoxicants by the insured was voluntary and that it was the direct cause of death. <u>Id.</u> at 155 (citations omitted).

The life insurance policy in Mason II had a different intoxication exclusion.

The policy in Mason II stated: "This policy does not cover . . . loss or injury resulting

from the use of intoxicating liquors . . .." Mason II, 41 So.2d at 155 (emphasis supplied). The court in Mason II, without discussing the difference in contract language in the two exclusions (Mason I excluded benefits "resulting directly from the use of intoxicating liquor" and Mason II excluded benefits "resulting from the use of intoxicating liquor") held, in a brief, three paragraph opinion:

We see no valid distinction between the facts of this case and the companion case referred to above. In our view, the judgment in this case, as was the judgment in the companion case, must be reversed because of the failure of the insurance company to show that the death of the insured was within the exception clause of the policy. Mason II, 41 So.2d at 155-156.

## B. <u>Section 627.629, Florida Statutes Permits Health Insurers to Include</u> "Drunkenness Exclusions" in their Policies.

In 1953, the Florida legislature first permitted health insurance policies to include the following exclusionary language:

INTOXICANTS and NARCOTICS: The insurer shall not be liable for any loss sustained or contracted in consequence of the insured's being intoxicated or under the influence of any narcotic unless administrated on the advice of a physician. Chapter 28027, Laws of Fla. (1953).

It appears that this provision was derived from the National Association of Insurance Commissioners (N.A.I.C.) model laws, regulations, and guidelines, promulgated in 1950, and specifically from N.A.I.C. 180-1, as that N.A.I.C. model law included the same exclusion. The exclusionary language approved by the Florida legislature did not

require that a loss from intoxication flow "directly" from the ingestion of alcohol or narcotics in order to bar recovery under a policy. Instead, intoxication was only required to be a cause of the loss (or a loss to be a consequence of intoxication) in order to exclude a loss from coverage. As discussed below, with the exception of the instant case, every reported Florida decision going back almost 50 years has consistently followed this approach.

In 1982, the Florida legislature amended the permitted drunkenness exclusion, changing the statute to allow the following language:

The contract may provide: Intoxicants and narcotics: The insurer will not be liable for any loss resulting from the insured being drunk or under the influence of any narcotic unless taken on the advice of a physician. Section 627.629, Florida Statutes, (1982).

Again, the change in Florida's statutorily permitted exclusion appears to have been based upon N.A.I.C. 185-1, the model code adopted in 1979 to provide policy provisions in "simplified language." The pertinent model code provision stated:

Intoxicants and narcotics: The company will not be liable for a loss resulting from the insured being drunk or under the influence of any narcotic unless taken on the advice of a physician. N.A.I.C. 185-1.

The same exclusionary language was permitted by the statute in effect when Ms. Steck's Conversion Option III policy was issued by BCBSF. Significantly, BCBSF's drunkenness exclusion tracks the language of the statute, excluding coverage for:

A condition resulting from you being drunk or under the influence of any narcotic unless taken on the advice of a physician; . . ..

C. <u>Harris and Other Florida Cases Decided After 1953 Apply the Drunkenness Exclusion if an Insured's Drunkenness is an Indirect Cause of Illness or Injury.</u>

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