#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

BLUE CROSS AND BLUE SHIELD OF FLORIDA, INC.,

Defendant/Petitioner,

V.

CASE NUMBER: SC01-464

ANGELA STECK,

Plaintiff/Respondent.

# RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Charles P. Schropp Florida Bar Number: 206881 Schropp, Buell & Elligett, P.A. 3003 West Azeele Street, Suite 100

Tampa, Florida 33609

Telephone: (813) 874-2600 Facsimile: (813) 874-1760

Appellate Counsel for Angela Steck

### **

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

question is clearly determined by this Court's prior decisions in *Mason v. Life & Casualty Ins. Co. of Tennessee*, 41 So. 2d 153 (Fla. 1949) ("*Mason I*"), and *Mason v. Life & Casualty Ins. Co. of Tennessee*, 41 So. 2d 155 (Fla. 1949) ("*Mason II*") (*Mason II* and *Mason II* are collectively referred to as "*Mason*").

The *Mason* decisions have been cited in several Florida appellate opinions interpreting intoxication exclusions. These subsequent opinions demonstrate that most Florida insurers have taken note of the *Mason* holdings regarding the type of policy language which must be included in order to make intoxication exclusions applicable to accidental injuries, and have drafted their exclusions to meet the *Mason* requirements. However, BCBSF did not, instead issuing a policy to Ms. Steck with an intoxication exclusion functionally identical to the exclusion this Court held to be insufficient to exclude accidental injuries in *Mason II*. BCBSF is now asking this Court to rewrite its policy after the fact to convert its intoxication exclusion into, in the words of the Second District, "the type of exclusion Blue Cross clearly thought it had provided but did not." *Steck*, *supra*, 374 So. 2d at 376-377.

The *Mason* cases, just as the present case, involved the issue of whether insurance coverage was available for injuries incurred when the insured was struck by a vehicle while a pedestrian, allegedly because of the insured's intoxication. In *Mason*, the intoxicated insured was riding in a taxicab toward Pensacola, Florida,

when she ordered the driver to stop and let her out of the cab on a dark, deserted stretch of road. While walking on the paved portion of the roadway in this inebriated condition, the insured was hit by a truck and killed. Here, Angela Steck was seriously injured while she was attempting to cross the street and was struck by an automobile, also allegedly due to her intoxication. BCBSF's brief concedes that the facts of *Mason II* are indistinguishable from those of this case, noting that "the underlying facts of the two cases are the same" (IB, at p. 13).

Mason I and Mason II involved two insurance policies, each of which contained an intoxication exclusion. The policy in Mason I stated: "This accidental death benefit does not cover . . . death resulting directly from the use of intoxicating liquors . . . ." Mason I, supra, 41 So. 2d at 154. This Court found the exclusion inapplicable, holding that it plainly excluded only the effects of intoxicating liquors upon the system of an insured, and did not extend to injuries caused by acts committed by the insured by reason of being intoxicated. Specifically, the Mason I opinion stated:

This provision of the policy is plain, simple and unambiguous and plainly refers to the effect of the use of intoxicating liquors upon the system of an assured as distinguished from acts committed by him by reason of his being under the influence of, or his mind being affected by, intoxicants.

To bring a cause of death within such an exception clause of a policy, the burden is on the insurer to show that the use of intoxicants by the insured was voluntary and that it was the direct cause of death.

Mason I, supra, 41 So. 2d at 155 (citations omitted).

The exclusion involved in *Mason II* was somewhat differently worded, principally in that it omitted the word "directly." This exclusion provided: "This policy does not cover . . . loss or injury resulting from the use of intoxicating liquors . . . ." *Mason II*, 41 So. 2d at 155. This Court held that the difference in language did not serve to make the exclusion in *Mason II* applicable to accidental injuries, stating:

We see no valid distinction between the facts of this case and the companion case referred to above. In our view, the judgment in this case, as was the judgment in the companion case, must be reversed because of the failure of the insurance company to show that the death of the insured was within the exception clause of the policy.

Mason II, supra, 41 So. 2d at 155-156.

Mason I and Mason II recognize that there are two types of injuries which may result from a person's intoxication, direct injury to biological systems of the insured, such as acute alcohol poisoning or liver damage, and indirect injuries, such as accidental injuries due to the actions of the insured while under the influence of alcohol. Mason I holds that a policy exclusion which states it excludes the direct effects of intoxication does not also exclude indirect injuries. Mason II, applying the

well-settled principle that an insurance policy's provisions, and particularly its exclusions, are construed strictly and narrowly against the insurer, simply adds the holding that an exclusion which fails to state that it covers both the direct and indirect effects of intoxication must be narrowly construed as being limited to the direct effects of intoxication. *See*, *e.g.*, *Auto-Owners Ins. Co. v. Anderson*, 756 So. 2d 29, 34 (Fla. 2000) ("Anderson") ("exclusionary clauses are construed even more strictly against the insurer than coverage clauses"). *Mason II*'s holding is directly applicable to the functionally identical exclusion found in the BCBSF Policy.

# B. The Authority Of The *Mason* Decisions Was Not Undermined By The 1953 Enactment Of The Statutory Predecessor to §627.629, *Fla. Stat.* (2000).

As its initial effort to discredit the on-point *Mason* decisions, BCBSF's brief attempts to divide the Florida case law interpreting intoxication exclusions into "pre-1953 law" (*i.e.*, the *Mason* cases) and "cases decided after 1953" (IB, at pp. 13, 16). The basis for this purported line of demarcation is the 1953 enactment by the Florida legislature of a statute expressly authorizing intoxication exclusions in certain Florida insurance policies. The current version of that statute is codified at §627.629, *Fla. Stat.* (2000).

BCBSF's suggestion that the *Mason* decisions are somehow undermined by \$627.629, *Fla. Stat.* (2000), and its predecessor statutes is misplaced. As these statutes plainly state, they simply authorize an insurer to include an intoxication exclusion in certain insurance policies issued in Florida; the statute does not purport to address the manner in which an intoxication exclusion should be interpreted. Moreover, while the *Mason* decisions pre-dated the enactment of these statutes, both *Mason I* and *Mason II* presumed that intoxication exclusions were valid and permissible policy provisions. These decisions refused to apply the particular exclusions before them only "because of the failure of the insurance company to show that the death of the insured was within the exception clause of the policy." *Mason II*, *supra*, 41 So. 2d at 155-156.

C. The *Mason* Decisions Were Not "Reversed By Implication" By *Harris v. Carolina Life Insurance Co.*, And Are Consistent With Subsequent Florida Authority.

The centerpiece of BCBSF's effort to undermine the *Mason* decisions, however, is its attempt to characterize these decisions, and particularly that in *Mason II*, as aberrational holdings inconsistent with the substantial body of later Florida authority involving intoxication exclusions. BCBSF even goes so far as to assert that *Mason* 

II was "reversed by implication" by this Court's decision in *Harris v. Carolina Life*Ins. Co., 233 So. 2d 833 (Fla. 1970) ("Harris") (IB, at p. 12).

BCBSF is incorrect. The subsequent Florida decisions which BCBSF has attempted to characterize as inconsistent with the *Mason* decisions involved policies which had incorporated language into their intoxication exclusions extending them to both the direct and indirect effects of alcohol abuse. Thus, far from demonstrating that the *Mason* decisions are a dead letter, these cases show that the *Mason* cases have provided a road map for extending intoxication exclusions to accidental injuries which insurers other than BCBSF have had no trouble following.

For example, the *Harris* decision, which BCBSF claims reversed the *Mason II* decision "by implication," actually involves an example of an adequately-worded intoxication exclusion. In fact, the Second District specifically characterized the *Harris* exclusion as "an excellent example of the type of exclusion Blue Cross thought it had provided but did not." *Steck*, *supra*, 778 So. 2d at 376-377.

In *Harris*, the intoxicated insured had been killed in a collision involving a vehicle in which he was riding as a passenger. All parties agreed there was no causal connection between the insured's intoxication and his death. Nonetheless, the trial court granted, and the district court of appeal affirmed, a summary judgment in favor of the insurer based on the following exclusion in the insured's policy:

Death \* \* \* resulting **directly or indirectly**, **wholly or partially** from any of the following causes are risks not assumed under this policy:

\* \* \*

\* \* \*

Bodily injury while under the influence of alcohol or drug \* \* \*.

233 So. 2d at 833-834 (emphasis added).

This Court reversed the district court of appeal. It concluded that even a policy which explicitly excludes both the direct and indirect effects of intoxication, and purports to exclude any injury sustained while the insured is in an intoxicated state regardless of its cause, must be interpreted as requiring at least a causal relationship between the injury or death and the intoxication for the exclusion to be enforceable. In short, *Harris* held that, no matter how broadly an intoxication exclusion is worded, it may not eliminate the minimum requirement of a causal relationship between the intoxication and the injury.

In reaching its holding, this Court had the occasion to discuss its *Mason I* decision at length. After quoting the exclusionary language involved, recounting the facts of the case in detail, and summarizing the court's holding, this Court concluded that the district court of appeal decision under review in *Harris* conflicted with *Mason I*, which accurately represented the law of Florida. Specifically, *Harris* held:

While the facts in the Mason case would probably be sufficient to show death indirectly related to intoxication under the provisions of the policy

in the instant case, the facts in the instant case clearly do not. Despite the difference in language in the policy provision, the cases do conflict.

233 So. 2d at 834.

Thus, far from overruling *Mason*, by implication or otherwise, *Harris* expressly reaffirmed *Mason I* and quashed a contrary ruling. Even more importantly, this Court explicitly observed that, while the facts in *Mason* would probably have been sufficient to show death indirectly related to intoxication, coverage was still found in *Mason* because of the difference in wording between the policy exclusions involved in *Mason* and in *Harris*. In other words, the exclusion in *Harris* was broad enough to exclude the indirect effects of intoxication, while the language in the *Mason* exclusions were not.

BCBSF's brief claims that the first Florida decision to construe a drunkenness exclusion after the *Mason* decisions was *Rivers v. Conger Life Ins. Co.*, 229 So. 2d 625 (Fla. 4th DCA 1969) ("*Rivers*").<sup>4</sup> *Rivers* affirmed a judgment in favor of an

In its Second District brief, BCBSF claimed that the first post-*Mason* case to construe a drunkenness exclusion was *American Motorists Insurance Co. v. City Bank & Trust Co. of St. Petersburg*, 215 So. 2d 763 (Fla. 3d DCA 1968), *cert. denied*, 222 So. 2d (Fla. 1969) ("*American Motorists*"), a citation PCA (DCAIB, at p. 13). Ms. Steck pointed out in her answer brief that a decision which expressly relied on both *Mason I* and *Mason II* as authority could hardly be said to support BCBSF's position under any rationale. In its brief to this Court, BCBSF has omitted *American Motorists* from the list of post-*Mason* cases construing the intoxication exclusion and does not cite this decision.

insured who burned to death in his bed, allegedly while intoxicated; the relevant policy exclusion provided:

The Agreement as to benefit under this Policy shall be null and void if the Insured's death \* \* \* results **directly or indirectly**, from one of the following causes: (a) \* \* \* while under the influence of alcohol \* \* \*.

229 So. 2d at 627 (emphasis added).

The policy involved in *Rivers* explicitly extended its exclusion to injury resulting "directly or indirectly" from alcohol abuse. Thus, BCBSF's argument that the *Rivers* court "significantly" did not hold that the exclusion could apply only if the insured's intoxication led directly to his death demonstrates no more than that a policy which expressly states that it excludes both the direct and indirect effects of intoxication may, under the appropriate facts, be enforced. This holding is entirely consistent with *Mason* and the decision below.

BCBSF next cites *Sasloe v. Home Life Ins. Co., New York*, 416 So. 2d 867 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982) ("*Sasloe*"), a case which involved the following policy exclusion:

The Company does not assume the risk . . . if death results **directly or indirectly**, **wholly or partly**, from . . . medicines; drugs; sedatives; . . . [or] committing or attempting to commit a crime; . . .

416 So. 2d at 867-868 (emphasis added).

Sasloe held this exclusion, which again specifically uses the words "directly or indirectly," was sufficient to bar coverage for an individual who died when the

automobile he was driving struck a tree, and whose autopsy revealed the presence of Methaqualone in the "lethal range" and lower levels of alcohol and various other drugs in his blood.

Significantly, the *Sasloe* court specifically discussed both *Mason I* and *Mason II*; it characterized both these decisions as "readily distinguishable" on the ground that "the *Mason* cases involved different policy language." 416 So. 2d at 868. Thus, the *Sasloe* decision specifically makes the point which is at the crux of this appeal, namely that while an intoxication exclusion which expressly includes both the direct and indirect effects of alcohol abuse may exclude coverage for accidental injuries, exclusions which are silent on this point, such as BCBSF's, do not.

The next two decisions cited by BCBSF are even farther removed from this case. *New York Life Ins. Co. v. Coll*, 568 So. 2d 1306 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990), involved an evidentiary issue as to whether an inference of impairment could be drawn from a certain blood alcohol level. The policy at issue purported to exclude coverage for "a loss caused **in any way** by intoxicants . . . ." (emphasis added). *Blue Cross and Blue Shield v. Ming*, 579 So. 2d 771 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991) ("*Ming*"), did not involve the interpretation of an intoxication exclusion, but rather the application of the claims

administration statute, §624.426(2), *Fla. Stat.* Moreover, the opinion does not even disclose the specific language of the exclusion at issue in *Ming.*<sup>5</sup>

The next case cited by BCBSF, *Hastie v. J.C. Penney Life Ins. Co.*, 115 F.3d 895 (11th Cir. 1997) ("*Hastie*"), involved an exclusion which purported to state that "[no] benefit shall be paid for Loss caused by or resulting from . . . an Injury occurring while the Covered Person is intoxicated . . . ." This extremely broad exclusion, which purports to be triggered merely by the fact of intoxication, was interpreted in light this Court's decision in *Harris*, to nonetheless require at least a casual connection between the intoxication and the injury for the exclusion to apply.

The final Florida decision construing an intoxication exclusion cited by BCBSF is *American Heritage Life Ins. Co. v. English*, 786 So. 2d 1280 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001) ("*English*"). *English* involved an intoxicated driver who died from injuries sustained

The *Ming* decision was the only allegedly conflicting decision cited in BCBSF's petition for discretionary review on conflict grounds. Since the specific language of the intoxication exclusion at issue in *Ming* is not disclosed in the opinion, this decision cannot "expressly and directly conflict" with the holding of the Second District below that the particular language in the exclusion issued to Ms. Steck was insufficiently specific to extend to accidental injuries. *See* Fla.R.Civ.P. 9.030(a)(2)(iv). Accordingly, this Court should also consider dismissing BCBSF's petition for discretionary review as improvidently granted. *See, e.g., Guerra v. City of Miami Beach*, 782 So. 2d 868 (Fla. 2001); *Americana Dutch Hotel v. McWilliams*, 777 So. 2d 970 (Fla. 2001).

when he ran off the road and struck a tree. The driver's life insurance policy contained the following intoxication exclusion:

[This] policy does not cover any loss incurred as a result of:

d. Any injury sustained while under the influence of alcohol or any narcotic unless administered upon the advice of a physician.

786 So. 2d at 1281.

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